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Federal M ne Safety and Heal th Revi ew Conm ssion
O fice of Adm nistrative Law Judges
2 Skyline, 10th Fl oor
5203 Leesburg Pi ke
Falls Church, Virginia 22041

SECRETARY OF LABOR, Cl VIL PENALTY PROCEEDI NG
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA) , Docket No. KENT 90-338
PETI TI ONER A. C. No. 15-13362-03571
V.
M ne No. 3

R B COAL COWVPANY, | NC.,
RESPONDENT

DECI SI ON

Appear ances: Mary Sue Tayl or, Esq., Ofice of the
Solicitor, U S. Departnent of
Labor, Nashville, TN, for the
Petitioner;
Susan C. Lawson, Esq., Harl an, KY,
for the Respondent.

Bef ore: Judge Fauver

The Secretary of Labor seeks a civil penalty for an all eged
violation of a safety and health standard, under the Federal M ne
Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U S. C 0O 801 et seq.

Havi ng consi dered the hearing evidence and the record as a
whole, | find that a preponderance of the substantial, reliable,
and probative evidence establishes the foll ow ng Findings of Fact
and further findings in the Discussion bel ow

FI NDI NGS OF FACT

1. Respondent operates R B Coal Conpany No. 3 Mne, an
underground coal mne, in Harlan County, Kentucky, where it
produces coal for sale or use in or affecting interstate
conmer ce

2. On February 23, 1990, Federal M ne Inspector Robert Rhea
i ssued O 104(d) (1) Citation No. 3392184 at the No. 3 Mne for a
violation of 30 C.F. R 0O 75.517, because the trailing cable for
the Gallis roof bolting machi ne contained four tenmporary splices
that were worn through and exposed live wires. These four worn
and exposed places, located in well travel ed areas, presented a
seri ous danger, particularly to the roof bolter hel per who
regul arly handl ed the cable. The inspector found that the cable's
condition had existed for at |least one to two weeks. Section
For eman Ear |
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Hensl ey told Inspector Rhea that Respondent had not repaired the
cabl e because it was behind in roof-bolting.

3. Inspector Rhea found that this was an unwarrantable
vi ol ati on because Section Foreman Hensl ey and M ne Superi nt endent
Phillips knew or should have known of the condition, the damage
was located in a highly visible area, and the cable had been in a
darmaged condition for a substantial period.

4. The roof bolter hel per, who frequently handl ed the cable,
depended on a sound outer jacket of the cable for protection from
el ectrical shock. Because of the frequency and manner in which
the cabl e was noved by the roof bolter hel per, Inspector Rhea
found that the violation was reasonably likely to result in a
fatal accident involving the hel per. He found that the violation
was significant and substantial. The operator abated the
violation within 45 minutes.

5. No clean inspection of the m ne was conducted between
February 23, 1990, and March 20, 1990.1

6. Ventilation, nethane and dust control plans for
underground coal mnes are required to provide for water
application at the face, in order to control coal dust, fl oat
coal dust and respirable dust. The health risk in overexposure to
respirabl e dust is the devel opnent of pneunpconiosis or bl ack
lung di sease. There are also inportant safety reasons for using
water to control dust, to dilute the dust at the face, and to
prevent float coal dust from accumulating in the return airways
and belt entry airways. Float coal dust creates a serious hazard
of a mne explosion or fire. Coal dust is a serious fire hazard.

7. Water sprays on Respondent's continuous mners are on a
spray bar or a spray block with as many as six to eight sprays on
the bl ock or bar. Water is conveyed to the spray block through a
pl umbi ng system of pipes and hoses.

8. On January 14, 1990, Inspector Calvin R ddle issued O
104(d) (1) Citation No. 2996545 to Tommy Phillips at No. 3 Mne
for a violation of 30 C.F.R. 0O 75.316, for having only 20 water
sprays on the continuous mner, and O 104(d)(1) Citation No.
2996546, for having zero psi water pressure on the niner
Respondent's ventilation, nmethane and dust control plan required
that 75 psi of water be mmintai ned on the sprayer systemfor the
conti nuous m ner when the nachine was runni ng, and that the
conti nuous mner have 31 operational water sprays.



~1191

9. Inspector Riddle returned to the nine on February 2 and
7, 1990, to check on the abatenment of citations issued in January.
On February 2, the water pressure was 80 psi; the operator
achieved this figure by increasing the pressure fromthe sunmp
punp. Inspector Riddle noticed some | eaks in the hoses when the
operator increased the pressure. He did not stay to see how | ong
the operator could maintain the i ncreased water pressure.

10. On February 7 and 8, while conducting a respirable dust
survey, Inspector Riddle again tested the continuous mner to see
if the operator had sufficient water pressure. He found that the
operator could not naintain any water pressure. The operator
wor ked on the punps and was not able to maintain water pressure
sufficiently to make production, so Inspector Riddle discontinued
the dust survey and left the m ne

11. Inspector Riddle returned to the mne on March 19, 1990,
for a followup inspection pronpted by citations issued for
excessi ve dust violations. After |aboratory analysis, |nspector
Ri ddl e' s dust survey had shown that there was excessive
respirable dust in the mne. The March 19 inspection was to check
on controls the operator had installed to correct the excessive
dust |evels.

12. M ne No. 3 was operating on an adjusted (higher)
respirabl e dust standard because of the quartz level in the coal
I f airborne dust contains nore than five per cent quartz, the
regul ations require that there be | ess respirable dust present in
the m ne environnent to conpensate for the presence of the
gquartz. Excessive quartz in the dust increases the danger of
contracti ng pneunpconi osi s.

13. Inspector Riddle arrived at the mine on March 19 at
about 10:00 or 11:00 a.m When he arrived on the surface, he sat
in his vehicle for about 15 - 20 m nutes and observed coa
flowing fromthe mne on the surface belt, indicating that the
conti nuous m ner was produci ng coal. M ne managenent indicated to
the inspector that they were having problems with the jeep used
to transport mners underground and that they did not know if
they woul d be able to transport the inspector underground that
day. Inspector Riddle accepted this explanation and, since he had
ot her appointnents, left the mne at 12:30 p.m that day. He
observed a regular flow of coal on the surface belt while he was
t here.

14. On March 20, Inspector Riddle returned and saw coa
com ng out of the mne for a sufficient time to indicate that
coal was being produced at that time. The operator stopped
producti on between the tine the Inspector left the office to go
underground and the tinme he arrived at the face. \When he arrived
at the face, the continuous m ner had been pulled back fromthe
face waiting for himto nmake a water pressure check. |nspector
Ri ddl e found that the operator was produci ng coal on March 20
based on the continuous flow of coal on the surface beltline, the
appearance of the coal
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and the tinme he observed the | oaded belt running.

15. Inspector Riddle went underground with Tommy Phillips on
March 20. When they arrived at the section, the continuous m ner
was 50 to 100 feet outby the face, which was the normal position
to check the water pressure considering mne conditions. The
mners were preparing the mner for the inspector to check the
wat er pressure. He saw no indication that the nen were working on
repairs (of the water system or anything else). The inspector
used a water gauge to check the water pressure. He found 50 ps
when he took the first reading, but the continuous mner could
not sustain this level for more than 15 minutes. Each time the
operator attenpted to raise the water pressure, the continuous
m ner's water supply system would blow a hose outby after 5-15
m nutes. The hose was worn and had the appearance of being old.
It appeared to the inspector that the hose had been in a
deteriorated condition for nore than a week and possibly nore
than a nmonth. Based on his observations, the inspector believed
that even if the satellite punp had been 100% operational, the
hose woul d not have been able to maintain 75 psi. The hose had
been stretched and pulled along the ribs and was worn showi ng a
| ot of age and wear and tear. During the inspector's test of the
wat er pressure, the operator's representatives tried to maintain
wat er pressure but would lose it. They checked both inby and
out by the continuous mner notor. When the pressure got to 50 ps
the system would bl ow a hose and they could not maintain water
pressure even at 50 psi. The dust control plan required 75 psi of
wat er pressure.

16. On March 20, 1990, Inspector Riddle issued 0O 104(d)(2)
Order No. 2996559 for the failure to followits ventilation,
met hane and dust control plan, which required 75 psi of water
pressure when the continuous mner was running. He had been at
the continuous mner for two hours before witing the order, and
the operator could not maintain the systemat or above 50 psi the
entire time he was there. It was evident that the hose could not
wi t hstand a pressure of 75 psi. This condition had existed for
some time, at |east a week, and the general condition of the
continuous mner was poor. On March 21, 1990, Inspector Riddle
nmodi fied the order to be a O 104(d)(1) order, and to allege high
negl i gence instead of noderate negligence.

17. To abate the condition cited, the operator replaced the
hose to the miner and ran an i ndependent water systemto the
bl ock of water sprays and replaced 250 feet of main supply hose.
The abat enent invol ved the nodification of the water |ine on the
continuous mner. At the place where water cane to the nminer, the
operator installed a "T" joint, which bypassed a major part of
the systemincluding a choke point where only a certain anount of
wat er woul d pass through the orifice and go into the motor. The
operator also adjusted the main punp down the line to increase
the water pressure on the booster punp (piston punp) on the
conti nuous mi ner.
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18. At all relevant times, Tommy Phillips and Carson Shepherd
were supervisors at Respondent's No. 3 Mne, Lick Branch No. 1
M ne and Lick Branch No. 2 Mne. Each man sinultaneously held a
supervisory position in each mne

19. Before March 20, 1990, Respondent, through its
supervi sors, had direct and thorough know edge of a nunber of
vi ol ati ons of operating a continuous miner wthout adequate water
pressure. Citations for this kind of violation were served on
Tomry Phillips on March 28, 1989 (only 10 psi), January 24, 1990
(only 20 water sprays when 31 sprays were required), January 24,
1990 (zero psi); on Robert Stanley on Cctober 11, 1988 (only 20
psi); and on Carson Shepherd on February 6, 1990 (zero psi).

DI SCUSSI ON W TH FURTHER FI NDI NGS

As anended, 0O 104(d) (1) Order No. 2996559 charges a

vi ol ati on of Respondent's ventilation, methane and dust contro

pl an, for inadequate water pressure on the continuous mner as

fol |l ows:
The operator was not follow ng his approved
ventilation, methane and respirable dust control plan
in that, the water pressure was nmeasured at 50 psi at
the sprays. The plan requires 75 psi.

Respondent contends that the order is invalid because it
does not allege that the continuous mner was running or
produci ng coal when the water pressure was only 50 psi. However,
by charging a violation of Respondent's ventilation, nethane, and
dust control plan, the order inplies, and reasonably puts
Respondent on notice, that the continuous mner was running
Wi t hout required water pressure.

The order charges a violation of 30 C.F. R 0O 75.316, which
provi des that a ventilation, nmethane, and dust control plan
approved by the Secretary shall be adopted by the operator. The
evi dence establishes that on March 20, 1990, the continuous mni ner
did not have 75 psi and in fact had nuch | ess than 50 psi on a
sust ai ned basis. The operator contends that the m ner was not in
operation on March 20 and that the order nust therefore fail. The
Secretary contends that coal was produced on March 19 and 20.
find that the reliable evidence shows that coal was being
produced by the continuous miner when the inspector observed coa
flowing out of the mine for nore than 15 minutes on March 19 and
20, 1990. In addition, the reliable evidence denonstrates that
the water system for the continuous miner was mechanical ly unable
to sustain 75 psi for at |east one week prior to March 19, and
t he evidence shows coal production during that week

An inspector may use his judgnent to find a violation based
on circunstantial evidence. It is not necessary that the
i nspector be
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present when the violation occurs to issue a citation or order
under 0O 104(d). Florence Mning Co., 11 FMSHRC 747, 751 (1989);
Emerald M nes Corp., 9 FMSHRC 1590 (1987), aff'd sub nom Enerald
M nes Corporation v. FMSHRC, 863 F.2d 51 (D.C. Cir. 1988). A mne
i nspector may make unwarrantable failure findings under O 104(d)
of the Mne Act for violations that have been abated before the

i nspector arrives at the mne. Enerald, supra, 863 F.2d at 59.

Unwarrantable Failure to Conply
Section 104(d)(1) of the Act provides that:

I f, upon inspection of a coal or other mne, an

aut hori zed representative of the Secretary finds that
there has been a violation of any nmandatory health or
safety standard, and if he also finds that, while the
conditions created by such violation do not cause

i mm nent danger, such violation is of such nature as
could significantly and substantially contribute to the
cause and effect of a coal or other nine safety or

heal th hazard, and if he finds such violation to be
caused by an unwarrantable failure of such operator to
conmply with such mandatory health or safety standards,
he shall include such finding in any citation given to
the operator under this Act. If, during the sane

i nspection or any subsequent inspection of such nine
within 90 days after the issuance of such citation, an
aut hori zed representative of the Secretary finds

anot her violation of any mandatory health or safety
standard and finds such violation to be also caused by
an unwarrantable failure of such operator to so conply,
he shall forthwith issue an order requiring the
operator to cause all persons in the area affected by
such viol ation, except those persons referred to in
subsection (c) to be withdrawn from and to be

prohi bited fromentering, such area until an authorized
representative of the Secretary determ nes that such

vi ol ati on has been abat ed.

The Conmi ssion has held that an "unwarrantable" failure to
conply neans "aggravated conduct constituting nore than ordinary
negl i gence." Enmery Mning Corp., 9 FMSHRC 1997, 2004 (1987);
Youghi ogheny & Chio Coal Co., 9 FMSHRC 2007, 2010 (1987). As
defined in the legislative history, an "unwarrantable" failure is
"the failure of an operator to abate a violation he knew or
shoul d have known existed, or the failure to abate a violation
because of a lack of due diligence, or because of indifference or
| ack of
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reasonabl e care on the operator's part." Senate Committee on
Labor and Public Welfare, 94th Con., 1st Sess., Part |
Legi sl ative History of the Federal Coal M ne Health and Safety
Act of 1969, at 1512 (1975); see also id, at 1602; and see:
Senate Subcomm ttee on Labor, Committee on Human Resources, 95th
Cong., 2nd Sess., Legislative History of the Federal M ne Safety
and Health Act of 1977, at 620 (1978). A continuing safety or
heal th probl em places on the mine operator the need for

hei ghtened scrutiny to assure conpliance with the Act. Eastern
Associ ated Coal Corp., 13 FMSHRC 178, 187 (1991).

Prior to March 20, 1990, Respondent had conti nui ng probl ens
and violations concerning its water supply systemto the
conti nuous m ner. Supervisors Shepherd and Phillips were served
citations (to Respondent) for the sanme or simlar violations at
this mine and at other mnes operated by the conpany in the year
prior to this citation. The operator did not take adequate action
to remedy the problemat Mne No. 3 when it received the
citations, but took only such nminimal action as was needed to
abate the citations tenporarily. It did not address the overal
wat er system at the mine which demanded greater repair and
attention.

Respondent's conduct in mning coal without regard for the
deteriorated condition of its water system despite numerous
prior violations involving |ack of water pressure, extensive
respirabl e dust, and excessive float coal dust, shows a disregard
for the requirements of the dust control plan and high negligence
in operating the mner without the required water pressure. The
vi ol ati on found on March 20, 1990, was due to high negligence and
an unwarrantable failure to conply with its nethane, ventilation
and dust control plan.

A Significant and Substantial Violation

The Comnmi ssion has held that a violation is "significant and

substantial” if there is "a reasonable likelihood that the hazard
contributed to will result in an injury or illness of a
reasonably serious nature.”™ U S. Steel Mning Co., Inc., 7

FMSHRC 327, 328, (1985); Cement Division, National Gypsum Co., 3
FMSHRC 822, 825 (1981); Mathies Coal Co., 6 FMSHRC 1, 3-4 (1984).
This evaluation is made in ternms of "continued normal m ning
operations." U S. Steel Mning Co., Inc. 6 FMSHRC 1573, 1574
(1984).

Anal ysis of the statutory |anguage and the Comm ssion's
decisions indicates that the test of an S&S violation is a
practical and realistic question whether, assum ng conti nued
m ni ng operations, the violation presents a substantia
possibility of resulting in injury or disease, not a requirenent
that the Secretary of Labor prove that it is nore probable than
not that injury or disease will result. See nmy decision in
Consol idation Coal Conpany, 4 FMSHRC 748-752 (1991). The statute,
whi ch does not use the phrase "reasonably likely to occur" or
"reasonabl e
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i kelihood" in defining an S&S violation, states that an S&S
violation exists if "the violation is of such nature as could
significantly and substantially contribute to the cause and
effect of a coal or other mine safety or health hazard" (O
104(d) (1) of the Act; enphasis added). Al so, under the statute,
(1) an "inmm nent danger" is defined as "any condition or practice
. whi ch coul d reasonably be expected to cause death or
serious physical harmbefore [it] can be abated,"2 and (2) an
S&S violation, is less than an inm nent danger.3 It follows
that the Commission's use of the phrase "reasonably likely to
occur"™ or "reasonable |ikelihood" does not preclude an S&S
finding where a substantial possibility of injury or disease is
shown by the evidence, even though the proof may not show that
injury or disease is nore probable than not.

Bl ack lung di sease is one of the nobst crippling occupationa
heal th hazards facing a coal miner. Health violations exposing
m ners to respirable dust, even though black lung may take years
to devel op, are significant and substantial violations of the
Act. Consolidation Coal Co., 8 FMSHRC 890 (1986), aff'd sub nom
Consol i dation Coal Co., v. FMSHRC 824 (F.2d) 1071 (D. C. Cir
1987). In affirm ng the Comnr ssion's presunption that such
viol ations are S&S, the Court stated:

The legislative history of the [Act] suggests that
Congress intended all except "technical violations" of
mandat ory standards to be considered significant and
substantial. ***, [824 at 1085.]

The Court al so recognized that "the determ nation of the
i kel i hood of harmfroma violation of an exposure-based health
standard necessarily rests on generalized nedical evidence
concerning the effects of exposure to the harnful substance,
rather than on evidence specific to a particular violation." 1d.
at 1084.

In addition, the dust in Respondent's m ne contains an
excessi ve amount of quartz, which is nore likely to lead to
devel opnent of the di sease. Respondent's violation also involved
a clear safety hazard from float coal dust accunulations in
active workings. The mine has a history of excessive dust
violations, including violations for excessive float coal dust.
The presence of excessive dust presents a serious danger of a
m ne expl osion or fire.
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The evidence denmpnstrates that, assumi ng continued nining
operations, the cited violation presented a substantia
possibility of resulting in black |ung disease as well as a mne
explosion or fire.

The inspector's finding of a significant and substantia
viol ation is sustained.

Considering all the criteria for a civil penalty in O 110(i)
of the Act, | find that a civil penalty of $1,000 is appropriate
for this violation.

CONCLUSI ONS OF LAW

1. The judge has jurisdiction in this proceeding.

2. Respondent violated 30 CF. R 0O 75.316 as alleged in
Order No. 2996559.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay the above civil penalty of $1,000
within 30 days of the date of this decision.

W I liam Fauver
Adm ni strative Law Judge

Foot notes start here: -

1. A clean inspection is one in which the entire nmne or the
sum of its parts has been inspected without a finding of an
unwar r ant abl e vi ol ati on.

2. Section 3(j) of the 1969 M ne Act, unchanged by the
Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977; enphasis added.

3. Section 104(d)(1) limts S&S violations to conditions
that "do not cause imm nent danger "



